IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA SUPREME COURT CASE NO.: SC01-2346 JENO F. PAULUCCI and LOIS PAULUCCI, Petitioners, vs. GENERAL DYNAMICS CORPORATION, STROMBERG-CARLSON CORPORATION, SIEMENS COMMUNICATIONS, L.P., and SIEMENS COMMUNICATION SYSTEMS, INC., SIEMENS STROMBERG-CARLSON, and GPT (USA), INC. Respondents,

INTIAL BRIEF

DAVID H. SIMMONS FLORIDA BAR NO.: 240745 DALE T. GOBEL FLORIDA BAR NO.: 980439 DANIEL J. O'MALLEY FLORIDA BAR NO.: 0124450 DRAGE, deBEAUBIEN, KNIGHT, SIMMONS, MANTZARIS, & NEAL 332 NORTH MAGNOLIA AVENUE ORLANDO, FLORIDA 32802 (407) 422-2454 FAX (407) 849-1845 ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONERS

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND OF THE CASE

In 1990, Petitioners, Jeno F. Paulucci and Lois Mae Paulucci (hereinafter collectively referred to as "the Pauluccis"), discovered that the warehouse property that they owned at 2380 West 25th Street, Sanford, Florida ("the Property"), had been contaminated by the prior tenants on the Property – the Respondents in the appeal (hereinafter referred to as "Defendants"). Over the course of five years, the Pauluccis negotiated with the Defendants for the cleanup of the Property. When the negotiations were fruitless, the Pauluccis filed suit in 1996.

On November 19, 1996, the Pauluccis filed an Amended Complaint in the Circuit Court for the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Seminole County, Florida, against the Defendants. (R. 150-205)

¹. The Pauluccis filed the action seeking damages for Defendants' willful and intentional contamination of the Pauluccis' property, which occurred while the Defendants were leasing that property from the Pauluccis.

¹ The Pauluccis will make all cites to the following records as follows: (1) trial court record sent on June 8, 2000, to the Fifth District Court of Appeal and certified by the Fifth DCA to have been transmitted to this Court, "(R.);" (2) supplemental trial court record sent on September 28, 2000, to the Fifth District Court of Appeal and certified by the Fifth DCA to have been transmitted to this Court, "(Supp. R.);" and record sent from the Fifth DCA to this Court in December 2001, "(S.Ct. R.).

In 1997, after diligent effort and huge expense to clean up the Property, the Pauluccis applied for and obtained a "No Further Action" ("NFA") letter from the Florida Department of Environmental Protection. ("FDEP").

² This NFA letter, as more fully explained *infra*, applied only to one specific area of the Property that had been tested. Specifically, the letter only applied to the area outside the warehouse near certain spray paint booth vent exhausts. The letter did not apply to the rest of the Property, nor to any further contamination found on the Property.

In January of 1998, the Pauluccis and Defendants entered into a partial settlement agreement wherein Defendants admitted of damages was capped, and Defendants and agreed to pay some of the damages incurred by the Pauluccis. Before trial, in

that they had caused the pollution to the Property, the amount May 1998, however, the Pauluccis learned that the Property was

contaminated in other areas and thus was even more contaminated as a result of Defendants' actions. (R. 1475).

On July 24, 1998, with the recently found contamination in

 $^{^2}$ Generally, an NFA letter is a statement from the FDEP that based upon the information available at that time, and for a certain area, the owner of the premises will not be required by FDEP to undertake further clean-up activities on the property.

mind, the Pauluccis and Defendants entered an Amended Settlement Agreement in this matter. (R. 1475). On July 29, 1998, the trial court entered a final judgment relating to the

Amended Settlement Agreement. (R. 1170-72). The final

judgment incorporated the Amended Settlement Agreement by reference and specifically retained jurisdiction for the trial court to enforce that agreement. (R. 1170-72). The Amended Settlement Agreement, by its own terms, called for the trial

court to retain such jurisdiction, as follows:

. . .in any action for breach of this Settlement Agreement, the breaching party shall be liable for all damages, costs, and expenses as may be incurred, taxable or otherwise, including court costs and attorneys' fees (at trial and appeal) and the Court shall retain jurisdiction for the purpose of enforcing this Settlement Agreement.

(R. 1547).

The Amended Settlement Agreement additionally required, among other things, that the Defendants ensure that a valid NFA letter be in place <u>on the subject Property</u> within fifteen (15) months of July 24, 1998. In particular, Paragraph 5 states:

Defendants shall at Defendants' sole cost and expense promptly initiate contact with the DEP concerning the Environmental Condition of the property to maintain the NFA [(No Further Action Letter)] or to obtain reissuance of the NFA, and if required by the DEP for such purposes, will investigate and implement clean up, remediation, and monitoring activities. If after 15 months from the date of this Settlement Agreement, there is no valid No Further Action (NFA) letter in place with regard to the property in question, then Plaintiffs shall be entitled to and Defendants shall pay to Plaintiffs, monthly payments (paid on the first of each month) equal to the difference between the fair market value of the lease rate of

³

the property and any current monthly rental for each month following the 15 month period until a valid NFA letter is issued. The parties recognize that the current space and term rented is \$4.50 per square foot, and the value may be increased or decreased in accordance with the CPI for similar rental facilities. (emphasis added.)

(R. 1545).

Additionally, Paragraph 6 specifically defines "Environmental Condition." It states:

For purposes of this Settlement Agreement, the term "Environmental Condition" shall mean any environmental pollution or contamination described in the Hartman Associates, Inc., reports of November 1992, December 1995, and May/June of 1998, any additional investigations conducted by Defendants and/or requested by any governmental agencies on the property up to the obtaining of the NFA letter.

(R. 1545)(emphasis added).

Accordingly, under Paragraphs 5 and 6, Defendants were obligated to promptly contact the Florida Department of Environmental Protection ("FDEP") regarding the contamination, obtain a valid NFA letter on the entire Property (including the warehouse contamination and other other contamination detailed in the stated reports under Paragraph 6), and clean up the Property as required by the FDEP. If no valid NFA letter was in place by October 24, 1999, Defendants were specifically obligated under Paragraph 5 to begin paying the Pauluccis for the rental value of the Property. As such, the whole purpose of having Defendants contact the FDEP to begin clean-up was so that a valid NFA letter could ultimately be issued on the Property.

Additionally, Paragraph 4 of the Amended Settlement Agreement provides that the Pauluccis were entitled to participate in and be advised regarding any efforts that the Defendants take in connection with the clean up of the Property.

(R. 1476). Specifically, Paragraph 4 states:

Plaintiffs shall have the absolute and unfettered right to have representatives attend, monitor, and be kept advised of all of Defendants' environmental clean up and remediation activities, including but not all attendance limited to at meetings with governmental entities. Plaintiffs may participate (including accurately and fully responding to any requests), and in all events shall fully cooperate with Defendants as they work with any governmental agency, media representative, or any other person or entity, directly or indirectly, regarding past or future site investigations, selection, implementation or completion of any and all investigations, remedial actions on the property that may be conducted by the Defendants agree they will Defendants. act reasonably, in good faith and with due diligence in any investigation, selection, implementation or completion of any and all investigations, removal actions or remedial actions concerning the property.

(R. 1544-45)(emphasis added).

Accordingly, the Pauluccis had the unfettered right to participate in the cleaning up of the Property. Any actions by Defendants regarding the clean up without the full knowledge of and participation from the Pauluccis would violate the Amended Settlement Agreement.

Defendants, from the outset, failed to comply with Paragraphs 4 and 5 of the Amended Settlement Agreement.

Defendants' initial failure led to continued violations that the Pauluccis necessarily, through much effort and expense, have tried to prevent. Defendants' violations have further led to the Property remaining contaminated even today. As such, there is no valid NFA letter being on the Property.

From the very beginning, Defendants, in contravention of Paragraph 5, failed to promptly contact the FDEP. (R. 208). The Pauluccis, therefore, had no choice but to file a Motion for Default on September 14, 1998, in order to enforce their rights under the Amended Settlement Agreement. (R. 1173-1175).

On November 19, 1998, the trial court held a hearing on the Pauluccis' Motion for Default. There were two issues raised by the Pauluccis' Motion for Default. The first issue was whether Defendants had violated the Amended Settlement Agreement by failing to "promptly" contact the FDEP concerning the contamination on the Property. (R. 1173-75). The second issue was the amount of the damages to which the Pauluccis were entitled based upon Defendants' failure to promptly contact the FDEP. (R. 1173-75).

The first of those issues was, in fact, the only issue addressed by the trial court under the Motion for Default in the November 19, 1998, hearing. In connection with that issue, counsel for Defendants admitted that Defendants had failed to contact the FDEP as of November 19, 1998. Defendants' counsel admitted (nearly four (4)

6

months after the date of the Amended Settlement Agreement that required them to contact the FDEP "promptly") that Defendants had yet to contact the FDEP.

_____After the November 19, 1998, Motion for Default hearing, the trial court issued a ruling in an Order dated December 15, 1998. The trial court ruled that Defendants had materially breached the terms of the Amended Settlement Agreement by failing to promptly contact the FDEP. (R. 1220).

On January 11, 1999, the trial court heard the Pauluccis' Motion to Set Hearing on Damages and/or for Clarification, which related to the Motion for Default and the December 15, 1998, Order. After hearing argument and thoroughly considering the matter, the trial court ruled in its January 11, 1999, Order that Defendants' failure to promptly contact the FDEP was a "material breach" of the Amended Settlement Agreement. (R. 1224). In the January 11, 1999, Order, the trial court also required that the Defendants notify the FDEP of the existing contamination on the Property within twenty-one (21) days. (R. 1224).

The Pauluccis later learned that, despite the Pauluccis' clear right to participate in the clean-up process and in any contact with the FDEP pursuant to Paragraph 4 of the Amended Settlement Agreement, Defendants secretly and improperly contacted the FDEP. Specifically, Defendants contacted the FDEP

through their expert, Nick Albergo ("Albergo"), by letters dated October 13, 1998, and November 13, 1998. (R. 1486-1506). Albergo forwarded those letters to the FDEP without the knowledge of or input from the Pauluccis. (R. 1477).

The dates of the Albergo letters to the FDEP directly contradict the representations made by Defendants' counsel during the November 19, 1998, hearing on the Pauluccis' Motion for Default. Specifically Defendants' counsel plainly admitted that Defendants had not contacted the FDEP. Such statement is plainly contrary to the fact that Defendants had, as of November 13, 1998, sent at least two letters to the FDEP.

Albergo, in his ex parte correspondence, admitted to the FDEP that violations of drinking water standards still existed on the Property. (R. 1496). He went on, however, to try and convince the FDEP that, despite the fact that the Property remained polluted, Defendants should not have to clean it up. He did so by specifically suggesting that the Property was a candidate for "natural attenuation." (R. 1496-1502). Natural attenuation is the process of letting the pollution dissipate by itself over a period of time. Albergo, in his ex parte attempt to persuade the FDEP to accept "natural attenuation," argued that nothing further had to be done to clean up the Property. (R. 1496-1502).

Albergo made these statements to the FDEP ex parte, despite

the fact that Paragraph 4 of the Amended Settlement Agreement requires the Pauluccis to be fully apprised of the clean up process. (R. 1544-45). Nowhere does Paragraph 4 or 5 of the Agreement permit Defendant to initiate ex parte contacts with the FDEP to convince that agency that Defendants should be permitted to simply sit on their hands and do nothing about the contamination on the Property.

Based upon Defendants' willful and repeated violations of the Amended Settlement Agreement, on March 19, 1999, the Pauluccis filed their Supplemental Motion for Default and Damages. (R. 1226-63). In that Motion, the Pauluccis alleged counts for post-settlement violations of the Amended Settlement Agreement, i.e., Breach of Settlement Agreement (Count I) and Violation of Chapter 376, <u>Florida Statutes</u> (Count II). The Pauluccis sought damages for Defendants' failure to promptly contact the FDEP, Defendants' unauthorized ex parte contact with the FDEP, and Defendants' failure to clean up the Property. (R. 1226-63). The Pauluccis also requested a jury trial in that Motion. (R. 1232).

On or about August 30, 1999, Defendants filed their Motion to Strike the Pauluccis' Count II and Jury Trial Demand in Plaintiffs' Supplemental Motion for Default and Damages, Plaintiffs' Notices for Jury Trial, and Plaintiffs' Notice of Hearing Concerning Punitive Damages, and Motion to Strike Matter

from Jury Trial Docket. (R. 1295-1373). The trial court heard that Motion and on November 4, 1999, issued its Order on Defendants' Motions to Strike Count II and Jury Trial Demand in Plaintiffs' Supplemental Damages, Plaintiffs' Notice for Jury Trial and Motion to Strike Matter from Jury Trial Docket. (R. 1457-62).

In its November 4, 1999, Order, the trial court made the distinction that damages provided for in the Amended Settlement Agreement could be obtained in this action, while damages not specifically described in the agreement must be pursued in a new action. In particular, the trial court found that the "... parties specified the calculation of damages should the Defendants fail to timely satisfy their obligations under the Settlement Agreement." (R. 1460). The trial court also ruled that "(s)hould Plaintiffs desire damages other than those provided for in the Settlement Agreement Agreement that, too, must be brought in a separate action." (R. 1461). The trial court struck Count II (damages for violations of Chapter 376) and struck the Pauluccis' Demand for Jury Trial.

The trial court, however, specifically permitted Count I, the Pauluccis' action for damages for breach of the Agreement to proceed in this action. The court ruled that ". . .Plaintiffs may bring a motion to enforce the Settlement Agreement now that the time period provided for Defendants to obtain an NFA letter

has expired." (R. 1461). As such, the Pauluccis' claim for enforcement of the Amended Settlement Agreement <u>in this action</u> survived the November 4 Order, and the trial court continued its jurisdiction over that claim <u>in this action</u>. (R. 1457-62)

In accordance with the trial court's November 4, 1999, Order, the Pauluccis, on February 4, 2000, filed their Motion to Enforce Settlement Agreement Dated July 24, 1998. (R. 1507-10). In that Motion, the Pauluccis sought enforcement of Defendants' obligations under Paragraph 5 of the Amended Settlement Agreement. (R. 1507-10). Paragraph 5 plainly required Defendants to begin paying rent as of October 24, 1999, if there was not a valid NFA letter on the Property. (R. 1545).

The Pauluccis set the hearing on their Motion to Enforce Settlement Agreement for February 9, 2000. The Pauluccis' counsel properly coordinated the time of such hearing with Defendants' counsel's office.

³ (Supp. R. 57). Defendants' counsel did not attend the February 9, 2000, hearing, apparently because Defendants had

no valid defense to the payment of rent.

At the February 9, 2000, hearing, the Pauluccis presented uncontroverted evidence that Defendants were in violation of

 $^{^3}$ Counsel for Defendants have apologized to the Court for not attending the hearing before the trial court. At Oral Argument before the 5th DCA, Defendants abandoned any claim that relates to scheduling of the hearing.

¹¹

the Amended Settlement Agreement. Larry Nelson, a representative of the Pauluccis, who participated in the negotiations regarding the Amended Settlement Agreement, testified regarding Defendants' lack of compliance with such agreement.

Mr. Nelson first testified about Defendants' obligations to clean up the Property. Specifically, Mr. Nelson testified that under Paragraph 5 of the Amended Settlement Agreement Defendants were obligated to clean up the Property by October

24, 1999. (Supp. R. 60-61). Mr. Nelson specifically testified that it was his understanding that there was no valid NFA letter on the Property as of October 24, 1999, because the Property had yet to be cleaned up. (Supp. R. 62). Mr. Nelson also testified that he understood there to remain exceedances of the Maximum Contamination Levels ("MCL's") on the Property. (Supp. R. 62). He additionally testified that, as a representative of the Pauluccis, he considered Defendants

to be in default under the Amended Settlement Agreement. (Supp. R. 62). Finally, Mr. Nelson testified that, given the facts that the Property had not been cleaned up and that no valid NFA letter existed on the Property, Paragraph 5 of the Amended Settlement Agreement dictated that Defendants owed the Pauluccis \$96,731.96, in past due rent through February 2000.

(Supp. R. 62-63).

Mr. Nelson further testified as to the Pauluccis' entitlement to attorneys' fees arising out of Defendants' default. Mr. Nelson testified that the Pauluccis had incurred attorneys' fees in enforcing the Amended Settlement Agreement. (Supp. R.

64). He also testified that Paragraph 10 of the Amended

Settlement Agreement permits the Pauluccis to recover attorneys' fees in the event of Defendants' failure to comply with the agreement. (Supp. R. 64). Paragraph 10 of the Amended Settlement Agreement states in pertinent part that: . . . in any action for breach of this Settlement Agreement,

the breaching party shall be liable for all damages, costs, and expenses as may be incurred, taxable or otherwise, including court costs and attorneys' fees (at trial and appeal) and the Court shall retain jurisdiction for the purpose of enforcing this Settlement Agreement. (R. 1546).

At the February 9, 2000, hearing, James Golden, a hydrogeologist and professional geologist, also testified as an expert witness regarding there being no valid NFA letter on the Property. Mr. Golden testified that he has monitored the clean up of the Property. (Supp. R. 66). He testified that after the Amended Settlement Agreement was entered on July 24,

1998, there were exceedances of the MCL's over what is permitted under Florida law. (Supp. R. 67). Mr. Golden further testified that, to his knowledge, there was not a

valid NFA letter on the Property. (Supp. R. 67.) Defendants, as stated, failed to appear at the February 9,

13

2000, hearing. As such, they wholly failed to rebut any of the evidence offered by the Pauluccis or preserve any

objections to that testimony.

After the February 9 hearing, Senior Judge Hall ruled that Defendants were in "material default" under the Amended Settlement Agreement. (R. 1512). Senior Judge Hall also awarded the Pauluccis the sum of \$96,731.96, plus prejudgment interest. (R. 1512). He further ordered Defendants to pay the monthly sum of \$21,371.34 (to be adjusted with the Consumer Price Index) until a valid NFA letter is obtained. Finally, Senior Judge Hall found that, due to Defendants' material breach and default, the Pauluccis were entitled, in accordance with Paragraph 10 of the Amended Settlement

Agreement, to attorneys' fees and costs. (R. 1512). On April 7, 2000, the trial court conducted a hearing on the Pauluccis' Motion to Tax Attorneys' Fees and Costs, relating to the fees awardable arising out of the December 15, 1998, January 11, 1999, and February 9, 2000, Orders. (Supp. R. 201). At the April 7 hearing, William Osborne testified as an expert on the amount of fees that the Pauluccis expended in order to compel Defendants to comply with the Amended Settlement Agreement. (Supp. R. 212). Mr. Osborne specifically testified as to the attorneys' fees incurred by the Pauluccis relating to Defendants' defaults under the

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