\_\_\_\_\_

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

\_\_\_\_\_

**CASE NO. SC01-2346** 

\_\_\_\_\_

JENO F. PAULUCCI and LOIS MAE PAULUCCI,

Petitioners,

VS.

GENERAL DYNAMICS CORPORATION; STROMBERG-CARLSON CORPORATION; SIEMENS COMMUNICATIONS, L.P.; SIEMENS COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.; SIEMENS STROMBERG-CARLSON; and GPT (USA), INC.,

Respondents.

\_\_\_\_\_

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIFTH DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

#### RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF

**HOLLAND & KNIGHT LLP** 

Steven L. Brannock Rory C. Ryan Stacy D. Blank P.O. Box 1288 Tampa, FL 33601-1288 (813) 227-8500

#

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

If this Court chooses to address the certified question, that question should be answered in the affirmative. It is well-settled that Florida courts have the power to enforce their judgments, including judgments that incorporate the terms of the parties' settlement. Once the parties settle, however, any claim alleging breach of the Settlement Agreement must be brought in a separate action and not by motion.

On the merits, the Fifth District correctly ruled that the Pauluccis had presented no evidence below that the NFA letter was no longer in place on October 24, 1999. Thus, the Pauluccis had no right to enforce the increased rent obligation pursuant to the Settlement Agreement. This Court should reject the Pauluccis' attempt to supplement the record with "new" facts "discovered" after the Fifth District issued its ruling. Review in this case is based on the appellate record already developed and the arguments made below. If the Pauluccis believe that they have "new" facts, their remedy is a Rule 1.540 motion in the trial court. not a retrial in this Court.

If this case is not dismissed as moot, the certified question should be answered in the affirmative and the case should be affirmed in accordance with the Fifth District's alternative holding on the merits.

#### **ARGUMENT**

This case does not belong in this Court. We begin our brief with a discussion of why the case is moot and why this Court should not exercise its discretion to decide the academic question presented – particularly when both the Pauluccis and GPT are on the same side of the question. Should the Court disagree, we follow with a discussion of the certified question, suggesting that it be answered in the affirmative.

The vast majority of the Pauluccis' brief goes beyond the certified question and asks this Court to second-guess the Fifth District's ruling on the contract issue based on "new" evidence and arguments never presented to the Fifth District. We discuss why this Court should decline to revisit the merits and should reject the "new" evidence offered by the Pauluccis. Because so much of the Pauluccis' brief reargues the merits, we feel compelled to conclude with a brief discussion of the merits demonstrating that the Fifth District's ruling that GPT had not breached the contract was correct. In the event this Court decides to exercise its discretion to reach past the certified question and decide the merits, the decision below should be affirmed.

#### I. THIS CASE SHOULD BE DISMISSED AS MOOT.

The question certified by the Fifth District to this Court has no practical relevance in this litigation. If this Court determines that the trial court had jurisdiction to enforce the Settlement Agreement, the Fifth District has already

resolved this case in favor of GPT by its holding that GPT did not breach the Settlement Agreement. If this Court determines that the trial court did not have jurisdiction, the Fifth District's decision must be affirmed on the jurisdictional ground articulated by the Fifth District. Put simply, no matter which way this Court rules, the Pauluccis' claim for breach in this lawsuit is dead.

Under Rule 9.030, Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, this Court *may* review certified conflicts and certified questions. Thus, whether to accept a certified question or conflict for review is a matter solely within the sound judicial discretion of this Court. *See Zirin v. Charles Pfizer & Co.*, 128 So. 2d 594, 596 (Fla. 1961). Exercising that discretion, this Court may dismiss a petition for review based on a certified question when the Court concludes "that the question answered was not essential to a determination of the case and is of such nature that no useful purpose would be served by rendering a decision." *Id.* at 597. *See Novack v. Novack*, 195 So. 2d 199 (Fla. 1967) (petition dismissed because answering the certified question was neither justified nor required).<sup>5</sup>

This Court should similarly decline to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction in this case. It is a fundamental principle that a court should restrict itself to deciding live cases or controversies. *See Babbitt v. United Farm Workers National Union*,

This Court can decline to address a certified question on any number of grounds. *See State v. Vazquez*, 718 So. 2d 755 (Fla. 1998) (declining to address certified question not ruled on by the court below); *State v. Sowell*, 734 So. 2d 421 (Fla. 1999) (dismissing a petition for discretionary review after determining that the question certified was not of great public importance).

442 U.S. 289, 298-99 (1979) (courts do not resolve abstract questions but should ensure that there is a real, substantial, controversy between the parties); *United States Parole Com'n v. Geraghty*, 445 U.S. 388. 396 (1980) (case or controversy requirement limits the business of federal courts to live controversies presented in the adversary context).

These important principles are often observed and enforced by this and other Florida courts. For example, in *DeHoff v. Imeson*, 15 So. 2d 258 (Fla. 1943), this Court was asked to review a final judgment arising out of an election controversy. The issue had become moot because of the passage of time and this Court dismissed of its own motion because "no practical result could be attained by reviewing the questions" presented by the appeal. *Id.* at 259. *See Sarasota*-Fruitville Drainage District v. Certain Lands Within Said District, 80 So. 2d 335, 336 (Fla. 1955) ("it is a fundamental principle of appellate procedure that only actual controversies are reviewed by direct appeal"); Veal v. State, 788 So. 2d 1103, 1103 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2001) (declining to issue an advisory opinion on issues not yet ripe); Gulf Life Insurance Co. v. Newell's, Inc., 226 So. 2d 858, 859 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1969) (dismissing the appeal "where no practical result could be obtained by reviewing the question" presented by the appeal); Vaughan v. Cates, 141 So. 2d 316, 318 (Fla. 1st DCA 1962) (a court should not "declare rules of law that cannot affect the matter in issue in the case before it").

No doubt the Pauluccis will argue that there is a need to resolve the conflict

presented by the Fifth District. There are many important questions waiting to be resolved by this Court, but those questions must await the appropriate case. Thus, the question is not whether there exists a conflict to be resolved, but whether that conflict should be resolved in the context of this case, where the issue has become academic. This Court should not expend its resources deciding questions that have no practical relevance to the parties. *See DeHoff*, 15 So. 2d at 259 (dismissing the case because a favorable decision would avail the petitioner nothing).

Moreover, this case is a particularly inappropriate vehicle to resolve the certified question because there is no disagreement concerning its resolution. Both GPT and the Pauluccis agree that the trial court has jurisdiction to enforce a Settlement Agreement that has been incorporated into the final judgment. This Court should resolve questions only when there is a true controversy and the issue has been sharpened by the adversary process.

This case should be dismissed as moot.

# II. THE CERTIFIED QUESTION SHOULD BE ANSWERED IN THE AFFIRMATIVE.

As GPT has conceded throughout this case, a trial court retains jurisdiction to enforce the terms of a court-approved settlement agreement. This power stems from a trial court's inherent power to enforce its orders. As this Court has stated: "a trial judge has the inherent power to do those things necessary to enforce its

orders, . . ." Levin, Middlebrooks, Mabie, Thomas, Mayes & Mitchell, P.A. v. U.S. Fire Ins. Co., 639 So. 2d 606, 608-09 (Fla. 1994).

Relying on this inherent authority, numerous courts have recognized a trial court's authority to enforce court-approved settlement agreements. For example, in *Buckley Towers Condo., Inc. v. Buchwald*, 321 So. 2d 628 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975), the parties entered into a written settlement agreement which was approved by order of the trial court. One of the parties later filed a motion to compel enforcement of the court-approved settlement agreement. The court rejected the argument that the trial judge had no jurisdiction to enforce the settlement agreement. The court recognized the trial court's inherent authority to enforce its order and ruled that the motion to enforce the settlement agreement was the proper pleading to institute the enforcement action. *Id.* at 629.

The Fourth District reached a similar result in *Broadband Eng'g, Inc. v*. *Quality RF Servs., Inc.*, 450 So. 2d 600 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1984). In *Broadband*, the court held that the trial court had the inherent jurisdiction to enforce the courtapproved settlement agreement. The court strongly rejected the suggestion that the trial court was without subject matter jurisdiction:

To adopt appellee's contention that appellant's only recourse is to file a second lawsuit would substantially undermine the policy favoring settlements and, indeed, would make a mockery of the legal process.

450 So. 2d at 601.

See also, Metropolitan Dade County v. Edol Corp., 661 So. 2d 422 (Fla. 3d

DCA 1995) (trial court had jurisdiction to enforce the parties' court-approved settlement agreement); *Molina v. Tradewinds Dev. Corp.*, 526 So. 2d 695 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1988) (same).

The Fifth District panel below acknowledged the reasonableness of this authority but felt constrained by the Fifth District's earlier decisions of Wallace v. Townsell, 471 So. 2d 662 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985) and George Vining & Sons, Inc. v. *Jones*, 498 So. 2d 695 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1986). These cases, however, do not present the conflict that the panel below feared. In Wallace, for example, the court was not faced with a simple motion to enforce a court-approved settlement agreement. Instead, both parties in *Wallace* contended that the other party had breached the settlement agreement. While the language in the opinion is broader than necessary to resolve the question before it, at bottom, Wallace stands for the proposition that a trial court does not retain jurisdiction to entertain an action for breach of the settlement agreement. As we discuss below, this conclusion was correct -- there is well recognized distinction in Florida law that permits a trial court to enforce a settlement agreement but prohibits a trial court from entertaining an action for its breach.

As noted above, *Wallace* does contain some broad language questioning the court's authority to order specific performance or to use its contempt powers to enforce the settlement agreement. This concern, however, does not appear to be based on the court's subject matter jurisdiction to enforce its orders. Rather, the

court seems concerned about granting greater enforcement powers over the breach of a settlement contract than the court would normally have in a typical breach of contract case. While an interesting issue, this question concerning the remedies available to a court when enforcing a court-approved settlement agreement is not at issue in this case. Rather, this case narrowly concerns the trial court's subject matter jurisdiction to entertain an enforcement action at all. On that point, the cases appear uniform.

Neither does the *George Vining & Sons* case present a clear conflict. In this case, as in *Wallace*, the court was addressing an action for breach of the settlement agreement, as opposed to a simple motion to enforce the agreement. Thus, *George Vining* is simply representative of the cases recognizing that a trial court does not have the power to entertain an action for breach of a settlement agreement. 498 So. 2d at 697. According to the court: "if and when the defendant breached the new agreement a new cause of action came into existence and the plaintiff should have instituted a new law action for money damages for breach of the new agreement." *Id.* at 698.

Thus, there is no clear authority in Florida holding that a trial court does not have the power to enforce a court-approved settlement agreement. For this reason, throughout these proceedings, GPT has conceded the trial court's power to enforce GPT's compliance with the Settlement Agreement. Thus, the trial court had the power to determine whether a valid NFA letter remained in place for the

purposes of determining whether GPT's obligation to pay rent had ripened. However, as the trial court correctly recognized, any action for an alleged breach of the Settlement Agreement had to be brought separately (R. 1460). *See e.g.*, *Buonopane v. Ricci*, 603 So. 2d 713, 714 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992).

The Pauluccis go beyond this authority and imply that the trial judge also has the authority to consider, by motion, claims that GPT had breached the Settlement Agreement. Initial Brief at 31-32. Here, GPT and the Pauluccis part company. As correctly recognized by the trial court and the Fifth District, there is no authority holding that a trial court may entertain an action for breach of the Settlement Agreement. There is much authority to the contrary.

For example, in *Davidson v. Stringer*, 147 So. 228 (Fla. 1933) this Court held that, once a matter has settled, the trial court "loses jurisdiction over the subject-matter of the suit" other than to see that the judgment is "properly enforced." *Id.* at 229. Considering this same issue, the Fourth District characterized the distinction between enforcement and breach as a matter of jurisdiction and authority:

We emphasize that we are not free to vest courts with jurisdiction out of the blue. There is a substantial difference between an action for damages for breach of contract, and a motion to compel compliance with a courtsanctioned judgment or order. The trial court possesses broad authority to fashion a variety of remedies in the latter situation, and its authority to do so must be clear.

Buonopane, 603 So. 2d at 714. See also, 84 Lumber Co. v. Copper, 656

So. 2d 1297, 1298 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994) (once a case is dismissed pursuant to settlement, the court loses subject matter jurisdiction to adjudicate any new issues arising out of the case). *Grossman v. Selewacz*, 516 So. 2d 1136 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987) (court may enforce the settlement agreement but has no power to award damages for its breach); *Oceanair of Florida, Inc. v. Beech Acceptance Corp.*, 545 So. 2d 443 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) (after the parties executed a joint stipulation for dismissal with prejudice, the trial court's jurisdiction was terminated and therefore, it could not act upon a motion for default of the settlement agreement); *Hopwood v. Revitz*, 312 So. 2d 516, 518 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975) (the trial court's jurisdiction is restricted to enforcing its judgment, the trial judge has no power to modify its original judgment by awarding additional relief).

In summary, the state of the law in Florida relating to the certified question is well-settled. The trial court always has the power to enforce its judgment, including a judgment that incorporates a settlement agreement by the parties. However, trial courts have no jurisdiction to consider an action for breach of the settlement agreement. The certified question should be answered in the affirmative.

# III. ONCE THIS COURT DECIDES THE CERTIFIED QUESTION ITS LABORS ARE AT AN END.

As discussed in Section I above, GPT believes that this case should be dismissed as moot. If this Court is inclined to decide the certified question, that question should be answered in the affirmative and the case should be remanded to

the Fifth District for the court below to enter its provisional order reversing the trial court. This Court should decline the Pauluccis' invitation to revisit the Fifth District's decision on the merits.

Although this Court has the discretion to consider issues in the case beyond the certified question, this is not one of those rare cases where the exercise of that discretion is appropriate. The Fifth District's opinion below did nothing more than apply the undisputed facts of this case to long-settled law. Indeed, as discussed in more detail below, the Paulucci's attempt to retry this case with new facts and arguments not raised below is an implicit concession that the existing record can support only judgment in favor of GPT. This Court should rebuff the Pauluccis' attempt to make it the factfinder in this case and to address new arguments not raised below. See Major League Baseball v. Morsani, 79 So. 2d 1071, 1080 n. 26 (Fla. 2001) (declining to address issue outside the scope of the certified question noting that "[a]s a rule we eschew addressing a claim that was not first subjected to the crucible of the jurisdictional process set forth in Article V, Section 3, Florida Constitution"); Provident Management Corp. v. City of Treasure Island, 718 So. 2d 738, 740 (Fla. 1998).

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